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DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
PIPELINE AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SAFETY ADMINISTRATION 

OFFICE OF PIPELINE SAFETY 
WASHINGTON, D. C. 20590 

In the Matter of 

AKA Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation, 

) 
) 

WILLIAMS GAS PIPELINE - TRANSCO, ) CPF No. 1-2005-1007 

Respondent. 

FINAL ORDER 

Between October 4-17, 2005, pursuant to 49 U. S. C. ) 60117, a representative of the Pipehne and 
Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, Office of Pipeline Safety ("OPS"), Eastern Region, 
conducted an on-site investigation of the pipeline facilities of Williams Gas Pipehne - Transco 
(" Williams" or "Respondent" ) in Chantilly, Virginia, in response to an incident occurring on 
October 3, 2005, during the excavation and physical inspection of one of Respondent's pipelines. 
The incident occurred in a populated area near an elementary school, located in a Class 3, High 
Consequence Area. During the excavation work, Respondent's contract backhoe operator struck 
and punctured an active 36-mch gas transmission line, resulting m the evacuation of more than 
850 schoolchildren and area residents. No fatalities, injuries, or property losses were reported. 

Pursuant to the subsequent OPS inspection and investigation, the Director, Eastern Region, OPS, 
issued to Respondent, by letter dated December 29, 2005, a Notice of Probable Violation, 
Proposed Civil Penalty, and Proposed Compliance Order (" Notice" ). In accordance with 49 
C. F. R. g 190. 207, the Notice proposed (1) finding that Respondent had committed violations of 
49 C. F. R. Part 192, (2) assessing a total civil penalty of $600, 000 for the alleged violations, and 

(3) ordering Respondent to take certain measures to correct the alleged violations. 

Respondent responded to the Notice by letter dated, January 27, 2006 (" Response" ). Respondent 
contested several allegations, submitted information and exhibits in support of its position, and 

requested mitigation of the proposed penalty. Respondent also requested a hearing. A hearing 
was subsequently held on June 13, 2006, in Washington, D. C. , with Renita K. Bivins of the 
Office of Chief Counsel, PHMSA, presiding. Respondent provided a post-hearing submission 
dated July 20, 2006. 



FINDINGS OF VIOLATION 

Item 1(A) in the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. ) 192. 605(a), which 
provides: 

$192. 605. Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and 
emergencies. 

(a) General Each operator shall prepare and follow for each pipehne, 
a manual of written procedures for conducting operations and 
mamtenance activities and for emergency response. 

Item 1(A) alleged that Respondent failed to follow a portion of its own operations and 
maintenance manual entitled, "Onshore Pipeline Construction Specification 90, 05. 00: Subpart 
5. 2. 2, Ditching Existing Pipelines. " That procedure states: 

Side-cutting teeth shall be removed from buckets of excavating 
equipment. A steel bar shall be welded across the digging teeth. 

The Notice alleged that Respondent failed to cover or remove the side-cuttmg teeth of the 
backhoe bucket and that such failure contributed to the puncture of the pipeline (" Line C"), 
which was in service at the time of the incident and operating at about 600 psig. On the date of 
the mcident, an OPS inspector took photos of the backhoe and submitted them into the record. 
The photos show the backhoe bucket with no steel bar across the digging teeth and teeth marks 
on Line C. Respondent neither disputed this allegation nor provided evidence to demonstrate 

mitigating factors. Accordingly, I find that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. $ 192. 605(a) by 
failing to follow for each pipehne, a manual of written procedures for conducting operations and 

maintenance and for emergencies, 

Item 1(B) m the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. ) 192. 605(a), as quoted 
above, by failing to follow another section of its operations and maintenance manual entitled, 
"Onshore Pipehne Construction Specification 90. 05. 00, Subpart 5. 2. 3, Ditching Existing 
Pipelines, " which states: 

Machine excavation of in-service pipelines shall not be permitted within 

5 feet of the staked location until the pipeline has been physically located 
by hand unless otherwise approved by the Company. After locating the 

pipeline facility by hand, machine excavation within 2 feet shall not be 
permitted. Final excavation shall be by hand. 

Item 1(B) alleged that on the date of the accident, Respondent failed to follow Subpart 5. 2. 3 by 
not hand digging within two feet of another of Respondent's pipelines, known as "Line A, " 
which had been "blown down" for inspection purposes and was out of service at the time. A 
suspected anomaly had been identified near the bottom (6 o' clock position) of Line A. As the 
backhoe dug below the bottom of Line A, it punctured Respondent's in-service pipeline, Line C. 
OPS alleged that Respondent's failure to follow its own procedures prohibiting maclune 

excavation within two feet of an in-service pipeline resulted in the puncture of Line C. 
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During the hearing and in its Post-Hearing Brief, Respondent acknowledged that it did not 
hand dig within two feet of Line A but contended that Specification 90. 05. 00, Subpart 5. 2. 3, 
apphed only to lines that were in service at the time of excavation. Therefore, because Line A 
was out of service at the time, Respondent contended that it had not violated its own procedures 
or 49 C. F. R. ) 192. 605(a). 

Respondent is technically correct in statmg that the first sentence of Item 1(B) alleged a failure to 
excavate by hand within two feet of Line A and that Line A was out of service when Line C was 

struck. Item 1(B) further alleged that "as the backhoe dug below the bottom level of hne 'A, ' line 
'C' was punctured by one of the backhoe teeth. " This means, of course, that Respondent had 

failed to hand dig within two feet of the in-service Line C. Respondent has admitted failing to 
excavate by hand withm two feet of this in-service hne. 

Proceedings under 49 C. F. R Part 190 do not require strict pleading as at English common law. 
There is no question but that the facts alleged m Item 1(B), when read as a whole, constitute a 
violation of Respondent's own procedures requiring hand digging within two feet of an in- 

service hne. Just because the m-service line that was struck happened to be Line C, rather than 

Line A, makes no difference for piuposes of this proceeding. Respondent has still violated its 
own procedures for hand digging within two feet of an in-service pipeline. 

Based upon the foregoing, I find that Respondent violated its own manual of written procedures, 
"Onshore Pipehne Construction Specification 90. 05. 00, Section 5. 2 Existing Pipelines, " and 

specifically, Section 5. 2. 3, which prohibits machine excavation within two feet of an in-service 
hne. I find that the backhoe operator hired by Respondent excavated by machine within two feet 
of both Line A and Lme C, the latter bemg an active hne, that the operator struck Line C 
multiple times, and that he eventually punctured Line C. Accordingly, I find that Respondent 
violated 49 C. F. R. ) 192. 605(a) by failing to follow for each pipeline, a manual of written 

procedures for conductmg operations and mamtenance activities and for emergency response. 

Item 1(C) in the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. $ 192. 605(a), as quoted 

above, by failing to follow the operator's own procedures entitled, "As-Built Survey 
Specification 75. 0503. 01, Subpart 2. 9. 3, " which states: 

It will be the responsibility of construction inspectors to assist 
the construction Contractor in verifying the survey party 's staked 
location of the Company 's existing facilities 

Item 1(C) alleged that Respondent's inspectors violated this specification by failing to review the 

company's as-built drawings with the construction contractor, by faihng to verify the existence 
of the crossover of Line A and Lme C, and by faihng to make the as-built drawings available to 
the contractor on site, either prior to or during the excavation activity leadmg up to the October 

3, 2005 accident. 



During the hearing and m its Post-Hearing Brief, Respondent took the position that neither 
"the more specific regulation ) 192. 605(b)(3) nor the company specifications requires the 
drawmgs to be located on site, only that they be 'made available' to the appropriate operating 
personnel. "' Respondent contended that it made the drawings available at its construction job 
office for use by appropriate operating personnel, thereby satisfying its specification. 
Respondent further contended that the specification m question "should not be read as requiring 
as-built drawings to be provided to equipment operators, as suggested by OPS at the hearing. 
Rather, the company's standard practice is 

"to provide as-built drawings to the surveyor, who is responsible 
for markmg the pipeline, but not to the equipment operator. The 
equipment operator is expected to rely on the surveyor's markings, 
not to attempt to mterpret the drawings himself. In this case, 
the surveyor was provided with the drawings, but failed to mark line 'C. '" 

The real issue presented by Item 1(C) is not whether Respondent's procedures required the as- 
built drawings to be located on site but, rather, whether Respondent's inspectors failed to "assist 
the construction Contractor m verifying the survey party's staked location of the Company's 
existing facilities. " There is virtually no evidence in the record to show that Respondent's 
mspectors did anything to aid or assist the construction contractor in any mearungful way to 
verify the location of the company's facihties. 

Respondent missed several opportumties to provide meaningful assistance to the contractor. OPS 
testified that the backhoe operator never attended the pre-construction meeting. Respondent 
acknowledged that none of its personnel, including inspectors, had provided the contractor with a 
set of as-built drawings. The Respondent's own mternal investigation report concluded that 
there were no temporary markings for Lme C or the other pipelines within the right-of-way, that 
Respondent's inspectors did not have as-built drawings on site at the time of the accident, and 

that the inspectors took no other steps to help the contractor in verifying the location of the lines. 

Lastly, OPS staff testified that it is standard industry practice for a pipeline operator's foreman to 
carry the apphcable as-built drawings with him on site during excavation work and to assist the 
excavation crew leader in reviewing and confirming that the hnes are properly marked. 
Respondent took none of these measures to assist the excavation contractor. 

Based upon the foregoing, I find that Respondent violated its own procedure entitled, "As-Built 
Survey Specification 75. 0503. 01, Subpart 2. 9. 3, " 

by failing to assist the construction contractor 
m verifying the staked location of Respondent's facilities. Respondent is responsible for the acts 
and omissions of its employees, agents, and contractors, including surveyors and mspectors. 
Accordingly, I find that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. $ 192. 605(a) by failing to follow for each 

pipehne, a manual of written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance and for 
emergencies. 

' This defense is discussed more fully below See Item 2 
Post-Hearing Brief, at p 3 ' "Williams Gas Pipelme Pennsboro Incident, October 3, 2005, " at pp 1-11 
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Item 1(D) in the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. $ 192, 605(a), as quoted 
above, by failing to follow its own procedure entitled, "Construction Manual, Section 90. 05. 00, 
Subpart 10, Welding Qualification 10. 1, 5, " which states: 

The radiographic acceptance standard for welder re-qualification 
and for production work shall be API I I 04 (latest DOT approved 
edition) unless otherwise specified by the Company, 

Subsection 10. 3. 27 of the same specification further provides: 

Company shall have the final decision on weld acceptability Each 
weld not meeting the acceptability standard shall be repaired or 
replaced. 

Item 1(D) alleged that one of the welds on the repaired Line C did not pass inspection by one of 
the Respondent's Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) contract technicians. Nevertheless, one of the 
Respondent's contract welding inspectors overruled the technician and, without proper authority, 
accepted the weld and allowed the pipehne to go back into service with a defective weld. OPS 
alleged that the weld did not meet the Company's radiographic acceptance standard (API 
Standard 1104) and that the noncomphant weld was placed in service for thirteen (13) days 
before bemg repaired by the Respondent. 

Respondent did not dispute the foregoing allegations and confirmed that its welding inspector 
did not have the authority to overrule the NDT technician without providing weld information to 
Respondent's welding engineers m Houston, who would normally resolve any disputed welds, 
Respondent further advised that on October 12, 2005, as soon as it discovered the defective weld, 
the operator reduced the operatmg pressure to 560 psig (41. 33'/o SMYS), isolated the hne, and 
determmed that the lme was safe to operate under the reduced pressure. Unfavorable atmospheric 
conditions prevented the hne from being blown down until October 17, at which time the weld 
was finally repaired. 

I find that the Respondent violated its own Construction Manual, Section 90. 05. 00, Subpart 10, 
Weldmg Qualification 10. 1. 5, which requires all welds to meet API Standard 1104 and the 
operator to make final decisions on weld acceptabihty. I further find that the noncompliant weld 
was allowed to remain m service for 13 days, but that Respondent took reasonable measures to 
ensure pubhc safety from the time it discovered the defective weld on October 12 until the weld 
was ultimately repaired on October 17. Based upon such facts, I find that Respondent violated 49 
C. F. R. ) 192. 605(a) by failing to follow for each pipehne, a manual of written procedures for 
conducting operations and maintenance activities and for emergency response. 

Item 2 in the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. ) 192. 605(b)(3), which states: 

$192. 605 Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and 
emergencies. 

(a) General Each operator shall prepare and follow for each 



pipeline, a manual of written procedures for conducting operations 
and maintenance activities and for emergency response. . . . . , . . . 

(b) Maintenance and normal operations. The manual required 

by paragraph (a) of this section must include procedures for the 
following, if apphcable, to provide safety during maintenance 
and operations. . . . . . 

(3) Making construction records, maps, and operating history 
available to appropriate operating personnel. 

Item 2 alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. )192. 605(b)(3) by failing to follow its own 
procedures regarding the availability of as-built drawings. The Notice alleged that Respondent's 
own personnel had informed PHMSA that the company's procedures called for the drawings to 
be located on site during excavation activities. 

According to Respondent's O&M Pohcy 10. 12. 01. 05, "Maintaining and Reviewing Construction 
Records and Maps, " Subpart 3. 3. 1, it was the responsibility of the operator's District Manager to 

/ejnsure the latest revision of maps and drawings are available to 
operating personnel for reference when accomplishing day-to-day 
tasks 

During the hearing and in its post-hearing submission, Respondent contended that neither 49 
C. F. R. $ 192. 605(b)(3), nor Respondent's own procedure, as quoted above, required such 
drawings to be located on site On the contrary, Respondent asserted that its procedures 
requued "only that they be made available to the appropriate operating personnel. ' 

Respondent argued that the drawings were in fact "readily available" for review by the 
construction personnel m Respondent's field construction job office located "a short distance" 
from the work site, but that the construction personnel failed to review them. 

Respondent's procedures clearly designate the company's Distnct Manager as being responsible 
for ensuring that accurate maps and drawings are available to appropriate operating personnel 
"for reference when accomplishing day-to-day tasks. " This is a duty that cannot be shifted to a 
contract surveyor or inspector, but is a direct responsibility of Respondent's own employee. 

The purpose of this procedure is manifest. Accurate maps and drawings are needed not only by 
surveyors who are markmg the location of lines but also by spotters and construction personnel if 
questions arise in the field about the accuracy of the line markings, cover depth, or other issues. 
It does little good for maps to be located miles away in an office if they are not readily available 
"for reference when accomphshing day-to-day tasks" such as excavation. The record clearly 
shows that the contractor's personnel, who were actually involved in the excavation work, did 
not have as-built drawings or alignment sheets available to them "for reference" when they were 
"accomphshing their day-to-day tasks. " 

' Post-Heartttg Bnef, at p 3 



OPS contended that Respondent's O&M Policy 10. 12. 01. 05, Subpart 3. 3. 1, required that the as- 
built drawmgs be physically located or immediately accessible at the site of the excavation work 
in order to be used "for reference. " In support of its position, OPS cited Respondent's own root 
cause analysis report, which concluded that ". . . the General Contractor, Welded Construction, 
was not provided with any ahgnment sheets. This is at variance with the requirements of the 
WGP Book Contract. " In other words, not only did Respondent's own procedures call for the 
drawings to be provided to the contractor but that they were also required to be provided under 
the company's contract with Welded Construction. 

The evidence shows that the as-built drawings or alignment sheets were physically located in a 
construction field office located more than 10 miles Rom the excavation site. OPS cited PHMSA 
Advisory Bulletin (ADB-02-03) as recommending that pipeline location mapping information 
"be readily available to appropriate personnel. " The agency further cited Merriam Webster' s 
Collegiate Dictionary, Tenth Edition, as defining the word "available" to mean "present or 
readily available for immediate use. " If a spotter or backhoe operator had to stop work and 
travel 10 miles to retrieve an as-built drawing in order to verify the location of a pipehne, then 
such drawing was not actually "available, " as that term is commonly understood. 

In this case, I find that Respondent failed to make its as-built drawings adequately "available to 
operating personnel for reference, " as required by its own procedure, O&M Pohcy 10. 12. 01. 05. 
Accordingly, I find that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. ) 192. 605(b)(3) by failing to follow for 
each pipeline, a manual of written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance 
activities and for emergency response. 

Item 3(A) m the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. g 192. 614(c)(5), which 
states: 

g 192. 614 Damage prevention program. 
(a) Except as provided in paragraphs (d) and (e) of this section, each 

operator of a buried pipeline must carry out, in accordance with this 
section, a written program to prevent damage to that pipeline from 
excavation activities. . . . . . . . . . 

(c) The damage prevention required by paragraph (a) of this section must, 
at a minimum:. . . . . . 

(5) Provide for temporary marking of buried pipelines in the area of 
excavation activity before, as far as practical, the activity begins. 

Item 3(A) alleged that Respondent violated this regulation by faihng to adequately mark with 
stakes or flags the crossover of Lines A and C. Respondent did not contest tlus allegation. 
Accordingly, I find that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. $ 192. 614(c)(5) by failing to provide for 
temporary marking of buried pipehnes in the area of excavation activity before, as far as 
possible, the activity begins. 

' Ibid, Accident Investigation Report, dated November 28, 2005, at p 5 



Item 3(B) in the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. $ 192. 614(c)(6)(i), 
which states: 

g 192. 614 Damage prevention program. 
(a) "" " " " " "" 
(c) The damage prevention required by paragraph (a) of this 

section must, at a minimum:. . . . . . . 
(6) Provide as follows for inspection of pipehnes that an operator has 

reason to believe could be damaged by excavation activities: 
(i) The inspection must be done as frequently as necessary during 

and after the activities to verify the integrity of the pipeline;. . . . . . 

Item 3(B) alleged that Respondent violated ) 192. 614(c)(6)(i) by faihng to carry out a damage 
prevention program that included mspections carried out as "frequently as necessary. . . . . . to 
verify the integrity of the pipeline. " The Notice alleged that on October 3, Respondent's 
mspector was not inspecting or spottmg for the backhoe operator at the time of the accident and 
that he had even left the excavation area when the pipeline was struck. 

The evidence shows that Respondent had assigned an inspector to identify the appropriate area to 
be excavated, to observe and monitor the excavation and backfillin work, and to communicate 
with the backhoe operator as the work progressed. Respondent does not dispute that it had reason 
to beheve that Line A could be damaged by excavation activities. Respondent operates four in- 
service gas transmission hnes (Lines A, B, C, and D) within the same right-of-way where the 
accident occurred. Furthermore, Respondent did not dispute the fact that its contract spotter was 
not in a position to assist the backhoe operator since he was not even physically present. 

Rather, Respondent contended that it had complied with the regulation because both the spotter 
and the backhoe operator were on thegob site, though not the excavation site, at all times during 
the work. According to Respondent, "[t]his provided the necessary inspection to insure that the 
excavation work would not damage the pipeline and met the requirement of the regulation. " 

Respondent contended that the pipehne was damaged not because of inadequate inspection but 
because the personnel conducting the excavation were unaware of the location of the pipeline. 
OPS presented evidence showing that it is standard industry practice for backhoe operators to 
stop excavation work near a pipehne if spotters are not available to guide them. In other words, it 
is necessary for spotters to be physically present and to be inspecting work at the excavation site 
at all times in order to meet the "as frequently as necessary" standard of ) 192. 614(c)(6)(i) when 
at-risk pipehnes are involved. 

OPS testified that personnel from two large pipehne construction contractors, the Napp-Grecco 
Company and Miller Pipehne Corporation, mformed PHMSA that they never allow backhoe 
operators to excavate without the presence of a spotter because equipment noise and visual 
obstructions typically make it diffiicult for backhoe operators to dig safely without a spotter 

Post-Heartog Bnef, at p 5 
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guiding them. OPS also referenced Respondent's own root cause analysis report, which 
acknowledged that one of the causes of the accident was that "[t]wo Welded employees were on 
site. . . . . . . . Spotter had left immediate area of the dig just prior to the incident. " 

I find that the backhoe operator, without the direct guidance of a spotter, was not in a position to 
see that he was hitting a pipeline and that, in fact, he did strike Line C numerous times before 
finally puncturing it. Accordingly, I further find that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. 
192. 614(c)(6)(i) by failing to carry out a damage prevention program that required inspections to 
be performed as &equently as necessary during and after the excavation of an at-risk pipeline in 
order to verify its integrity. 

Item 4(A) m the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. $ 192. 805(b), which 
provides: 

g 192. 805 Qualification program. 
Each operator shall have and follow a written quahfication 

program. The program shall include provisions to: 
(a) Identify covered tasks; 
(b) Ensure through evaluation that mdividuals performing 

covered tasks are quahfied;. . . . . 

Item 4(A) alleged that Respondent failed to verify the qualifications of the contract surveyor who 
located and marked Line A, and that the surveyor did not, in fact, have the necessary 
qualifications required by Respondent's own pohcies to perform his particular task, as described 
m the document entitled, "Covered Task (CT) 605 — Locate Line/ Install Temporary Marking of 
Buried Pipeline. " Respondent had contracted with Gullett A Associates for the latter to locate 
and mark Respondent's pipeline. Under that contract, the Gullett employee who marked the hne 
was required to be quahfied to perform CT-605. 

Respondent did not contest the allegation that it failed to "ensure through evaluation" that 
Gullett's surveyor was actually quahfied to perform CT-605. Instead, Respondent took the 
position that the surveyor was quahfied to perform a covered task that was different from, but 
functionally equivalent to, CT-605 and that he had received such alternative quahfication while 
working for a previous employer. The prior employer had failed to forward the documentation to 
Gullett by the time the surveyor performed the hne location work for Respondent. Respondent 
argued that this sequence of events somehow reheved it of the responsibihty, as operator, to 
verify the qualifications of its contract employees and that therefore it should not be found in 
violation of ) 192. 805(b). 

Respondent submitted documentation showing that Gullett's surveyor was qualified to perform a 
functionally equivalent task, known as CT WGP00310. Unfortunately, this alternative task was 
not listed as a covered task m the Respondent's then-current Operator Qualification (OQ) Plan, 
Rev. III, June 10, 2005. In addition, havmg reviewed this documentation, I am of the opimon 
that CT WGP00310 had been replaced by Respondent's new standard, CT-605, at the time of the 
mcident and that the new standard included enhanced requirements for Evaluation Criteria and 

' Accident Investigation Report, dated November 28, 2005, at p 3 
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additional Abnormal Operating Conditions that were substantially different from CT 
WGP00310. Respondent's surveyor, therefore, was not properly quahfied under Respondent's 
own criteria. 

The evidence clearly indicates that this alternative quahfication argument was an after-thought 
on the part of Respondent. The contract between Respondent and Gullett specifically required 
the surveyor to be quahfied for CT-605. Respondent apparently failed to do any investigation to 
determme the surveyor's actual qualifications prior to the excavation work to see if they met 
either Respondent's updated covered tasks or the parties' contract. In fact, the record shows that 
Respondent did not even discover that the surveyor was unqualified for CT-605 until months 
later, aAer receipt of the Notice. 

I find that Respondent's contract surveyor was not quahfied to perform CT-605 at the time of the 
mcident and that Respondent failed to evaluate lus quahfications before allowing him to locate 
and stake the pipehne. Accordingly, I find that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. ) 192. 805(b) 
when it did not ensure through evaluation that individuals performing covered tasks were 
qualified. 

Item 4(B) in the Notice alleged that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. $ 192. 805(b), as cited above, 
by failmg to verify that the contract excavation mspector hired by Respondent to spot the hne for 
the backhoe operator had the necessary quahfications to meet the Respondent's own pohcy, as 
described in the document entitled, "CT-607: Damage Prevention: Observation of Excavating 
and Backfilhng. " It further alleged that the spotter was not, in fact, qualified to perform CT-607. 

Respondent did not contest this allegation but argued in its Post-Hearing Brief that under 49 
C. F, R. ) 192. 805(c), an operator shall have and follow a procedure "allow[ing] individuals that 
are not quahfied pursuant to this subpart to perform a covered task if directed and observed by an 
individual that is quahfied. " Respondent argued that because the backhoe operator performing 
the excavation work was qualified to perform CT-607 and "was directing and observing the 
activities of the spotter, " there was no violation of 49 C. F. R. ( 192. 805(b). 

There are several problems with this argument. First, in its Post-Heanny Brief, Respondent 
submitted documentation, entitled "Evaluation Guide, Covered Task 607, "' which describes the 
criteria by which Respondent considers a spotter to be qualified and by which such an individual 
will be evaluated. It says nothing, however, about Respondent's procedures by which a qualified 
individual may direct and observe the work of an unqualified individual. 

In fact, the document describes the tasks that a spotter is expected to be able to perform. He must 
be able to: 

2. Identify considerations during excavation of pipelines: 

Agreement No 21-0024 
Post-Hearmg Brief, at p 6 
Ibid, Document 6 Interestmgly, this Evaluation Guide for CT-607 cites 49 C F R ) 192. 614(c)(6), which calls 

for mspections "as Irequently as necessary" during excavation to verify the integrity of the pipelme See discussion 
under Item 3(B) above 



a. Ensure bucket teeth are barred and side cutters removed as 
applicable 

b. Maintain clearance between bucket and pipeline according to 
operator guidelines 

c. Hand excavate as required 
d Anticipate encountering unidentified foreign structures and 

pipeline appurtenances. . . 
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At the hearing, OPS staff contended that it is implausible, if not impossible, for a backhoe 
operator simultaneously to operate a large 320 CAT backhoe, effectively observe the excavation 
area, direct an unquahfied spotter m the pipehne trench, and ensure that all the other duties of a 
spotter, as set forth in CT-607 and the Evaluation Guide, are actually being met. 

I find that Respondent failed to present any documentation to support its argument that 
Respondent had and followed adequate procedures to allow unqualified individuals to perform 
covered tasks if they are directed and observed by an individual who is qualified. I further find 
that the role of an excavation spotter is to be in continual communication with the backhoe 
operator, to observe the excavation and backfilling work, and to identify appropriate measures to 
ensure that the backhoe operator does not hit or damage the pipeline(s). The spotter serves, in 
essence, as the "eyes and ears" of the backhoe operator by communicating, via hand signals or 
other means, what he is seeing on the ground. Safety is compromised when a backhoe operator 
must perform backhoe operations and also attempt to direct and observe a spotter who is charged 
with the responsibihty for performing other duties, such as maintaimng clearance between the 
bucket and the pipehne, calling for hand excavation as required, anticipating unidentified foreign 
structures and pipeline appurtenances, and ensuring that all the other requirements of CT-607 are 
fulfilled. In this case, Respondent failed to show that the qualified backhoe operator was able to 
observe and direct the work of the unqualified spotter. 

Accordmgly, I find that Respondent violated 49 C. F. R. ) 192. 805(b) when it failed to ensure 
through evaluation that Respondent's contract spotter was qualified to perform Covered Task 
607. 

ASSKSSMKNT OF PENALTY 

The Notice proposed a total civil penalty of $600, 000 for various violations of 49 C. F. R. Part 
192. Under 49 U. S. C. $ 60122, Respondent is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $100, 000 
per violation for each day of violation, up to a maximum of $1, 000, 000 for any related series of 
violations. 

49 U. S. C. ) 60122 and 49 C. F. R. ) 190. 225 require that, in determining the amount of a civil 
penalty, I consider the following criteria: nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation, 
degree of Respondent's culpability, history of Respondent's prior offenses, Respondent's abihty 
to pay the penalty, the good faith of Respondent in attempting to achieve compliance, the effect 
on Respondent's abihty to continue in business, and such other matters as justice may require. 

During the hearing, Respondent requested mitigation of the civil penalty because of its 
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cooperation during OPS' investigation of the incident. Respondent also questioned whether 

the amount of the civil penalty had been affected by a press release statement by Brigham A. 
McCown, PHMSA Acting Administrator. Respondent contended that the civil penalty proposed 
in the Notice was excessive and that language in the press release suggested that Respondent had 

been targeted for harsher treatment in order to set an example for other operators, 

With regard to the first point, cooperation after an incident is expected of an operator. 
In this case, Respondent's cooperation @Acr the October 3 incident was duly considered in the 
calculation of the proposed penalty. With regard to the claim of bias, Respondent presented no 

evidence other than the text of the Acting Administrator's press release" to demonstrate bias on 
the part of the agency. 

The presiding official assured Respondent that full consideration would be given to all of the 

facts, statements, documents, testimony, evidence and arguments presented to make an 

independent recommendation for final action in this case. The presiding official further 

explained that the Notice proposed, but did not assess, a civil penalty and that the penalty may be 
reduced or eliminated should Respondent provide evidence to refute an allegation of probable 
violation or provide evidence of mitigating factors. 

The proposed penalty for Item l(A-D) of the Notice is $100, 000 for the four violations of 49 
C. F. R. $ 192. 605(a), which requires pipeline operators to prepare and follow for each pipeline, a 
manual of written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance activities. I found, as 
stated above, that Respondent failed to follow four different company procedures dealing with 

the excavation and repair of its pipelines. Respondent's contract personnel failed to cover the 
teeth of the backhoe bucket that ultimately punctured Line C. They excavated within two feet of 
the active Line C. They failed to assist the excavation contractor in verifying the location of 
Respondent's facilities. They allowed a line with a defective weld to be placed into service for 
13 days until it was discovered and repaired. 

Respondent operates four gas transmission lines within the same right-of-way where Lines A and 

C were located, all being part of an active gas transmission system that has the capacity to cause 
catastrophic injury or damage if any one of them is punctured. This is precisely why the operator 
must exercise extreme caution when excavating near so many active lines. 

Respondent did submit credible evidence in mitigation of the penalty for Item 1(D). Although the 

pipe with the defective weld was in service for 13 days (October 4-17, 2005), Respondent showed 

that as soon as it discovered the defective weld on October 12, it decided not to blow down and 

repair the weld immediately since weather conditions were unfavorable and might cause the 

public to smell gas and panic. Instead, Respondent reduced the pressure to 560 psig, isolated the 

line, and determined that it was safe to operate under the reduced pressure. Once the weather 
conditions improved, the weld was repaired on October 17. The Regional Director has 
recommended that Respondent be assessed a penalty for only eight days, from October 4 until the 

date the defective weld was discovered on October 12. and that the proposed penalty be reduced 
for Item 1(A-D) to $90, 385. Based upon the foregoing facts and the Regional Director's 
recommendation, I hereby reduce the proposed penalty for Item 1(A-D) from $100, 000 to 
$90, 3S5. 

"U. S. Department of Transportation, Office of Pubhc Affairs, Wash&ngton, D. C, www dot. gov/affairs/briefing. htm. 
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The proposed penalty for Item 2 of the Notice is $100, 000 for violation of 49 C. F. R. ) 192, 
605(b)(3), which requires pipeline operators to prepare and follow procedures for making 
construction records and maps available to appropriate operating personnel. I found, as stated 
above, that Respondent's procedures required that the latest pipeline maps and drawings be made 
available on site m order that Respondent's personnel could have them available for reference 
when accomplishing day-to-day tasks. 

The primary objective of the Federal pipeline safety standards is public safety. PHMSA has 
made it a national priority to reduce excavation damage to pipelines. The agency has supported 
this priority with state grant funds, research funds, educational activities and other initiatives. It 
has been encouraged in this effort by the National Transportation Safety Board's (NTSB) Safety 
Recommendation P-87-34, which found that a lack of accurate information on the underground 
piping system is a factor contributmg to excavation-related accidents. 

In this case, the ahgnment sheets clearly show the location of Line C intersecting with Line A at 
the site of the accident. If these drawings had been available on the ~ob site for use by the spotter 
and the excavator, instead of being located in a construction office more than 10 miles away, it is 
unhkely that the accident would have occurred. Line C was operating at about 600 psig at the 
time it was hit. Under such circumstances, an ignition could have caused the death or serious 
injury of not only Respondent's own employees and contractors but the general public as well. 
This mcident caused a potentially dangerous release of gas and the evacuation of more than 850 
schoolchildren and area residents. Respondent is fortunate that no explosion occurred and there 
were no in]uries or fatahties in this High Consequence Area. Accordingly, for the reasons 
previously cited and upon consideration of the assessment criteri, I hereby assess Respondent a 
civil penalty of $100, 000 for violation of Item 2, 

The proposed penalty for Item 3(A) m the Notice is $100, 000 for violation of 49 C. F. R. 
) 192. 614(c)(5), which requires pipehne operators to carry out a written damage prevention 
program that mcludes the temporary marking of pipelines in areas of excavation. Respondent did 
not contest the allegation that it failed to mark Line C. I found, as noted above, that Respondent 
failed to mark the crossover of Line A and Line C. Accordingly, having reviewed the record and 
considered the assessment criteria, I assess Respondent a civil penalty of $100, 000 for violation 
of Item 3(A). 

The proposed penalty for Item 3(B) in the Notice is $100, 000 for violation of 49 C. F. R. 
)192. 614(c)(6), which requires pipehne operators to carry out a written damage prevention 
program that includes, for pipelines at risk of excavation damage, inspections "as frequently as 
necessary" during excavation to ensure the mtegnty of the pipeline. I found, as noted above, that 
Respondent knew or should have known that Lmes A and C were part of an active gas pipeline 
network that included four in-service gas pipehnes in the vicinity of the excavation work. 
Obviously, with this many active pipelines in the same area, Respondent should have been on 
notice that the excavation was taking place in a particularly hazardous location. Respondent, 
however, not only failed to locate and mark Line C but also failed to ensure that the spotter, 
whose ]ob it was to observe the excavation and make sure that the pipehne was not hit, was 

physically present at the excavation site at all times. 
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Taken together, Item 3(A-B) goes to the heart of the Notice and reflects a serious failure on 
the part of Respondent to adhere to its own damage prevention program and standard industry 
practices, The excavation of gas transmission hnes is an inherently high-risk activity which 
necessitates great care on the part of all parties involved in order to ensure public safety. 
Respondent has not presented any evidence or information that would justify its failure to ensure 
that its contract spotter properly directed and supervised the excavation work. Accordingly, 
havmg reviewed the record and considered the assessment criteri, I assess Respondent a civil 
penalty of $100, 000 for Item 3(B), 

The proposed penalty for Item 4(A) in the Notice is $100, 000 for violation of 49 C. F. R. $ 
192. 805(b), which requires that operators ensure through evaluation that individuals performing 
covered tasks are properly qualified. I found, as stated above, that Respondent failed to ensure 
that its contract surveyor, who located and marked Line A, was properly quahfied to perform 
CT-605 and that he was not, m fact, qualified to perform that task. Respondent has not shown 
any circumstance that would ~ustify its failure to review, evaluate, or confirm the surveyor' s 
qualification before he performed the covered task. 

The operator quahfication requirements set forth in ) 192. 805 are a vital link in the national 
system that has been estabhshed by PHMSA, in cooperation with industry and other 
stakeholders, to protect the pubhc from accidents due to excavation damage. If surveyors, 
spotters, equipment operators, and other individuals working near high-pressure natural gas 
transmission pipehnes are not properly qualified to perform their jobs and have not received 
adequate safety training, the results can be catastrophic. Accordingly, having reviewed the record 
and considered the assessment criteria, I assess Respondent a civil penalty of $100, 000 for Item 
4(A). 

The proposed penalty for Item 4(B) in the Notice is $100, 000 for a separate violation of 49 
C. F. R. )192. 805(b), which requires operators to ensure through evaluation that individuals 
performing covered tasks are properly qualified. I found, as set forth above, that (1) Respondent 
failed to ensure that its contract spotter was properly quahfied to perform CT-607, (2) 
Respondent's spotter was not, in fact, qualified to perform that task, (3) Respondent failed to 
prove that it had procedures m place to allow a qualified individual to observe and direct an 
unquahfied individual, and (4) the contract backhoe operator, who was qualified to perform CT- 
607, was not in a position to actually observe and direct the unquahfied spotter. 

The record reflects that when the backhoe operator struck the pipehne repeatedly, he thought he 
was hitting a large rock. If a qualified spotter had been present at the time to assist the backhoe 
operator, he would most likely have identified the object as a pipehne and signaled the backhoe 
operator to stop digging. Respondent has not shown any circumstance that would have justified 
its failure to evaluate, review, or confirm the spotter's quahfications before he performed the 
covered task, Neither has Respondent demonstrated that it had any procedures in place to allow a 
qualified mdividual to observe and direct an unquahfied spotter's work, much less that it could 
be done by the backhoe operator. Accordmgly, having reviewed the record and considered the 
assessment criteria, I assess Respondent a civil penalty of $100, 000 for Item 4(B). 

In summary, the violations and penalties described above present a veritable laundry list of 
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mistakes and flaws in the Respondent's damage prevention program. This incident could 
have easily resulted in serious injuries or deaths in a populated urban area. The pipeline that was 
struck one just one of four gas pipelines owned and operated by Respondent within the same 
right-of-way and should have been very familiar to the company and its operating personnel. For 
these reasons and those set forth more fully above, I hereby assess a total penalty for Item 1(A- 
D), Item 2, Item 3(A), Item 3(B), Item 4(A), and Item 4(B) of $590, 385. 00. I find that 
Respondent has the ability to pay this penalty without adversely affecting its ability to continue 
business. 

Payment of the civil penalty must be made within 20 days of service. Federal regulations 
(49 C. F. R. $ 89. 21(b)(3)) require this payment be made by wire transfer, through the Federal 
Reserve Communications System (Fedwire), to the account of the U. S. Treasury. Detailed 
instructions are contained in the enclosure. Questions concerning wire transfers should be 
directed to: Financial Operations Division (AMZ-341), Federal Aviation Administration, Mike 
Monroney Aeronautical Center, P, O. Box 25082, Oklahoma City, OK 73125; (405) 954-8893. 

Failiue to pay the $590, 385. 00 civil penalty will result in accrual of interest at the current annual 
rate in accordance with 31 U. S. C. $ 3717, 31 C. F. R. $ 901, 9 and 49 C. F. R. $ 89. 23. Pursuant to 
those same authorities, a late penalty charge of six percent (6%) per annum will be charged if 
payment is not made within 110 days of service. Furthermore, failure to pay the civil penalty 
may result in referral of the matter to the Attorney General for appropriate action in a United 
States District Court. 

COMPLIANCE ORDER 

The Notice proposed a compliance order with respect to Items 1(A-D), 2, 3(A-B), and 4(A-B) 
for violations of 49 C. F. R. Part 192. 

Under 49 U. S. C. g 60118(a), each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns 
or operates a pipeline facility is required to comply with the applicable safety standards 
established under chapter 601. Pursuant to the authority of 49 U. S. C. $ 60118(b) and 49 C. F. R. 
$ 190. 217. 

Respondent is ordered to take the following actions to ensiue compliance with the pipeline safety 
regulations applicable to its operations. Respondent shall: 

1. Conduct an investigation to determine the cause of this incident, document Respondent's 
findings, and prepare a plan to improve the anomaly investigation process. The plan will 
become final upon approval of the Director, OPS, Eastern Region. The plan must 
include: 

methods to improve the availability of as-built drawings and specifications for 
utilization by Williams' field inspection and construction personnel and to 
improve the temporary marking of buried pipelines during the anomaly 
investigation process, in accordance with 49 C. F. R. $$ 192. 605 and 
192. 614(c)(5), 
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methods to insure that only qualified individuals are utilized to perform 
covered tasks under 49 CFR Part 192 Subpart N that apply to the anomaly 
excavation, evaluation, and remediation process, 

2. Review the records of each pipeline weld that Respondent previously put into service and 
that had been inspected by or involved the work of the contract welding inspector 
discussed in Item 1(D) of the Notice. Determine if any welds rejected by the NDT 
technicians were actually put into service and whether any such welds are still in service. 
Prepare and submit a report summarizing the findings, in accordance with 49 C. F. R, ) 
192. 605. 

3, All of the compliance items detailed above must be completed within 90 days of the date 
of this Final Order. Submit four (4) copies of all reports, documentation, and 
investigative findings to demonstrate completion of each Item detailed above to the 
Director, OPS, Eastern Region, 409 3" Street, SW, Suite 300, Washington, D. C. 20024. 

4. The Director, OPS, Eastern Region, may grant an extension of time for compliance with 
5. any of the terms of this Final Order for good cause. A request for an extension must be in 

writing. 

Failure to comply with this Final Order may result in the assessment of civil penalties of up to 
$100, 000 per violation per day, or in the referral of the case for judicial enforcement. 

Under 49 C. F. R. $ 190. 215, Respondent has a right to submit a Petition for Reconsideration of 
this Final Order. The petition must be received within 20 days of Respondent's receipt of this 
Final Order and must contain a brief statement of the issue(s). The filing of the petition 
automatically stays the payment of any civil penalty assessed. All other terms of this Final 
Order, including any required corrective action, remain in full effect unless the Associate 
Administrator, upon request, grants a stay. The terms and conditions of this Final Order shall be 
effective upon receipt. 
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